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PROLOGUE


Fortified sites existed in the Americas long before the arrival of Europeans. During the pre-Colombian era the Native Americans did not have coastal defenses, but they did build fortifications throughout the two continents. In North America, some of the most famous fortified sites are those built by the Pueblo Indians of the Southwest who lived in fortified communities. In the northeastern part of the United States, the Iroquois built circular forts with timber stockades similar to those of the Europeans. Many sites of the Mississippi Valley, such as Etowah, also show vestiges of wooden stockades and towers. However, the most impressive pre-Colombian fortifications were encountered by the Spanish. Only thirty years after the arrival of Columbus, Hernán Cortez landed on the coast of Mexico and encountered several impressive fortified sites, such as the one at TLAXCALA, which he compared favorably to the city of Granada in Spain. He concluded his operations against the Aztecs in one of the largest siege operations to take place in the Americas. The Aztec capital city of TENOCHITLÁN was a virtual fortress. Built on islands accessed by defended causeways, it was one of the most interesting defensive positions ever created in the Americas. The battle to take this fortress on the lake in 1521 involved over 100,000 combatants. No other battle in the Americas involved such numbers until the American Civil War.


The Spanish Crown built a system of forts and fortresses to protect its ports in the Americas from piracy. The first Spanish fortifications were crude stockades like the one Columbus left behind on Hispañola on his first journey to America, at the settlement of La Navidad. Although Columbus found this fort in ruins on his return, the island of Hispañola—known then as Santo Domingo—became the first base of operations for Spain. Before Cortez sailed for Mexico, early in the sixteenth century, the Spanish moved their main base of operations to Cuba. From that point on, stone fortifications in the form of castillos, fortalezas, or fortins were built at almost every major Spanish port in the Americas. The most important fortress positions were established at Havana, San Juan (Puerto Rico), Vera Cruz (Mexico), and Cartagena (Colombia).


During the next three centuries, each one of these fortified forts would be put under siege or attacked. They represented the largest fortification complexes in the Americas until the French built a formidable fortress at Louisbourg in the eighteenth century, which proved less successful than the Spanish fortresses. The Spanish also built a number of other fortified sites of masonry with relatively modern designs in places such as Campeche, Portobello, Panama City, Santa Marta, Maracaibo, Puerto Cabello, Arraya, and Santiago. All were initially designed to protect the ports from European raiders. CASTILLO SAN MARCOS was built on the Florida coast to protect the return route to Spain.




When English Sea Dogs, like Sir Francis Drake, and Dutch raiders struck at the west coast of the Americas, the Spanish responded by fortifying the ports in that area with masonry fortifications. Thus were born the complexes at Valdivia, Concepción, and Callao with its CASTILLO REAL FELIPE—the largest fort on the west coast—and Acapulco. Further north, on the Mexican coast, the port of San Blas was fortified in readiness for the exploration and settlement of the California coast. The major Spanish fortifications in both North and South America tended to be coastal positions. One the exceptions was the inland FORT IMMACULATA on the San Juan River in Nicaragua, built to block the water route to Granada.


To advance and secure the landward frontier, a line of presidios was established along the northern frontier of New Spain (modern-day Mexico). The first presidios were mostly small castle-like positions built of adobe rather than stone. In the seventeenth and eighteenth century, as the Spanish moved north toward the Rio Grande and then further north, they built a line of PRESIDIOS that began at ADAES and LA BAHIA (at Goliad) in eastern Texas, near French Louisiana, and stretched westward into Arizona. Although this line was not solid and more than one of the presidios had to be abandoned, it was the first defensive line of fortifications in the Americas. Usually built of adobe and sometimes stone, these presidios were generally square and were surrounded by a wall. Sometimes the buildings of the presidios formed the outside walls. The Dutch, English, and French laid claim to those islands of the West Indies that had been neglected by the Spanish. The forts, whether earthen and timber or stone, proved of limited value on these islands.
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Masonry coastal fortifications in the style of Vauban’s First System were found throughout the Spanish, Portuguese, and French empires in South and Middle America during the sixteenth, seventeenth, and early eighteenth centuries. In the remainder of North America (north of the Spanish empire), however, the fortifications were generally made of wood and seldom became impressive before the latter part of the eighteenth century. Most of these fortifications were built for inland defense and were involved in considerable combat. The defenses of the British Thirteen Colonies and New France and Louisiana evolved from simple stockades to more complex forts during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. The strategy and outcome of the French and Indian War, the American Revolution, and the War of 1812 were based heavily on these fortifications. To a degree, the same is true of the American Civil War, but after the War of 1812, the emphasis shifted mainly toward coastal fortifications until the end of World War II for most of the Americas.





The First European Fortified Site in North America


 

The first European settlement in North America was a Viking outpost founded by Icelander Leif Erikson around 1000 A.D. First mention of this outpost was made in the Vinland Sagas, which were orally transmitted for over a century before they were committed to parchment in the early twelfth century. Long thought to be the fruit of fanciful imagination, these sagas were proven correct when the remains of a Norse settlement were found at L’ANSE AUX MEADOWS, in Newfoundland in 1961.


The settlement, named STRAUMFJORD by the Norse, consisted of three large longhouses and associated buildings, probably built for the crews of three vessels. The three Viking crews, which included women, wintered at l’Anse aux Meadows and dispersed in the summer to explore further south along the American coast where they trapped animals for fur, collected wood and grapes, and occasionally traded and even fought with the natives.


According to the sagas, Straumfjord was occupied at two or three different times, by different expeditions, for periods of a few years. During one of the expeditions, they traded milk and milk products with the natives. However, Karlsefni, one of the Norse leaders, “had a palisade built around his farm, where they prepared to defend themselves.” After the last expedition, the site was abandoned, apparently because the Vikings did not have the manpower necessary to establish a permanent colony in America.


Source: Fitzhugh, William W. and Elisabeth I. Ward, The Vikings, the North Atlantic Saga, Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.





After World War II, a radical new type of fortification and defensive system emerged. Lookouts no longer scanned the horizon from blockhouses or towers attached to forts. Instead, new warning systems relied mainly on electronic equipment, in many cases located far from the fortifications and forming warning lines with no defenses. The new concrete fortifications, usually of a subterranean type, no longer had the purpose of defending a coastline or holding a vital piece of territory. Instead, many of them protected weapons of mass destruction that could obliterate an enemy’s homeland far away from the fortresses concrete walls.





Native American Fortifications


 

Fortifications were by no means a new notion in North America when the European colonists started building their fortified settlements on the East Coast in the sixteenth century. Although archaeological evidence of the earliest palisades has not yet come to light, it is very likely that they appeared about the time the Indians abandoned a nomadic lifestyle for a settled village life based on the cultivation of Meso-American plants like corn and squash. By 800 B.C., large fortified settlements associated with the Adena culture appeared in Ohio and Kentucky. The Adena village was a large settlement that included various earthen ceremonial mounds and was enclosed by a square earthen wall with rounded corners.


The Adena culture was followed by the Hopewell culture (100 B.C.– 400 A.D.), which was also characterized by ceremonial mounds and earthworks. One of the most impressive Hopewell sites was FORT ANCIENT, located on a 235-foot bluff on the Little Miami River and surrounded by earth-and-stone walls. Curiously, sections of the wall were lined with internal, rather than external ditches. Although archaeologists at the site claim the wall had no defensive purposes, it is baffling to think that the villagers spent so much time and effort on erecting a wall around their village simply for esthetic or religious purposes. Further research and analysis will shed more light on the function of the Fort Ancient wall.
 

The southern Hopewell culture evolved into the Mississippian, which flourished between 500 A.D. and 1500 and was characterized by elaborate mound building. Some of the bestknown sites of this culture are Cahokia and Etowah, which consisted of large central settlements surrounded by satellite villages. The large settlements were surrounded by elaborate wooden fortifications.


CAHOKIA (700-1400 A.D.) was contemporary with the castleß and fortified cities of medieval Europe. It covered almost six square miles and had a population of about twenty thousand people. Its central section was surrounded by a two-mile long, tall stockade with evenly spaced bastions that projected in front of the curtain wall, allowing the defenders to cover the walls with arrows. Some sections of the wall appear to have been hastily built. The original stockade is dated at around 1100 A.D. and seems to have been rebuilt three times during the following two hundred years. Archaeologists working on the site estimate that it might have required fifteen to twenty thousand oak and hickory logs, one foot in diameter, to build the twenty-foot wall. It is thought that the wall was covered with a layer of clay to prevent the enemy from burning it down.


The site of ETOWAH (950-1450 A.D.), located at the confluence of the Etowah River and Pumpkinwine Creek near Cartersville, was also a large stockaded settlement with ceremonial mounds and pyramids. Like Cahokia, it was surrounded by sattelite villages, still occupied by the Creeks at the time of the Hernando de Soto expedition. Benjamin Hawkins, an Indian agent, reported in the eighteenth century that “Creek legends tell of palisaded, compact towns.” Hawkins himself observed that the Creek settlements he had visited were “well fenced with fine stocks of cattle, horses and hogs surrounded by fields of corn, rice and potatoes.” This indicates that the Mississippian tradition of building fortified settlements had persisted well into colonial times.


Many of the nations of the Eastern Woodlands also built well-defended, stockaded settlements when the Europeans arrived. According to Samuel de Champlain, the Iroquois village he attacked was “enclosed with four good palisades of logs of wood interlaced, so that there was not more than half a foot of opening between any two. These palisades were thirty feet high, and had galleries after the fashion of a parapet, which were furnished with pieces of wood set double . . . They were near a pond, where the water never failed. There were a good many gutters, one placed between each pair of loopholes, by which water was poured outside, and they had water inside, under cover, to extinguish fire. This is their method of fortification and of defence, and they are stronger that the villages of the Attigouantans.”
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Example of a defensive tower at Mesa Verde, Colorado.





In the southwestern United States, there is also abundant evidence of fortified villages. However, whereas the materials of choice were earth and wood in the Mississippi Valley and the Eastern Woodlands, in this semi-arid zone the material was stone. According to archaeologist Stephen LeBlanc, the people of the Southwest began moving their villages from the valley and canyon floors to higher, more easily defended locations around 1200 A.D., a period that coincided with increasing drought and famine. Fierce competition for arable land and water led to armed conflict. Fortified sites, like MESA VERDE, sprouted on easily defended bluffs and cliffs. When villages stayed in the valley, the houses were built in tiers around a central plaza, in a circle, semicircle, or rectangle. Doorways and openings faced the plaza, while the back walls formed a solid curtain wall, thicker than the interior walls. The defenders were able to shoot at their enemy from the rooftops. If possible, the village encompassed a spring to supply the villagers with water; if not, cisterns were dug to collect rainwater. In the Zuni area, many sites included one or more masonry towers that might have served as lookouts or refuges of last-resort.
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New France 1750s
Based on map by Jean Baptiste Nolin















Chapter 1
NEW FRANCE AND LOUISIANA



Early Settlement


WHEN THE SPANISH CLAIMED THE NEW WORLD and divided it with the Portuguese in the 1490s, the French were the only European power in a position to counter their claims. But the Americas did not hold much appeal for the French until the Italian John Cabot (Giovanni Cabotto) made two exploratory voyages along the North American coast from what is now Maryland to Baffin Island on behalf of England late in the 1490s. His discovery of excellent fishing banks stimulated some interest of the French king, Francis I, who sent his own Italian mariner, Giovanni da Verazzano, to explore the region in 1525. Verazzano’s voyage along the North American coast from Carolina to Newfoundland would be the basis for future French claims, just as Cabot’s journey served as a basis for English claims.


Francis I commissioned Jacques Cartier to lead another expedition in 1534. Cartier, who sailed along the Gulf of St. Lawrence, thought that great waterway might provide a northwestern passage through the Americas. But the French would not begin to settle in the region until the next century.


In 1604, an expedition that included a small number of settlers and Samuel de Champlain, a royal geographer who mapped the coast, set out for Canada. The leader of the expedition set up a settlement and built a fort of earth and palisades on the island of Sainte Croix, which proved unsuccessful because its poor location left it exposed to the elements. The site was abandoned after the first brutal winter and some of the survivors moved to another island on the Bay of Fundy, where, under the leadership of Champlain, they established the settlement of Port Royal (now Annapolis) in 1605. Located in western Nova Scotia, Port Royal became the first French colony in Acadia, an area that would eventually be heavily contested in the struggle between France and England. According to Leslie Hannon, author of Forts of Canada, Champlain is credited with the construction of the HABITATION because, being the expedition’s cartographer, he was the only one with the skill to draw up the plan. In addition, he was familiar with the designs of late medieval-type fortifications built in small farms and hamlets in northern France. His Habitation was essentially a rectangular enclosure with high walls that served to defend the settlers. According to drawings of the period, it included a square corner bastion, which was little more than a platform outside the fort’s walls that mounted four bronze cannons to protect the harbor. The high walls of the enclosure were actually formed by the buildings and their upper levels included small windows or embrasures for muskets. Access was through a single narrow entrance protected by a projecting flanking palisade reminiscent of a bastion with a platform for the defenders. A ditch partially encircled the position and the buildings that formed the Habitation included quarters, storage, a bakery, and all other necessary facilities.


In 1607, the colony was abandoned and was not reestablished until 1610. In 1613, an English expedition from Jamestown sailed into the bay, raided Port Royal, destroyed the Habitation and took the prisoners back to Virginia, which claimed the land of Acadia. In 1621, King James granted the land to a Scot and the first settlers arrived from Scotland in 1629 and founded CHARLES FORT, located about five hundred yards above the old site of Champlain’s Habitation. By the time the war between the French and English ended, the Scottish settlers were removed and Acadia was returned to France by virtue of the treaty of 1632. The Scots reluctantly departed, destroying everything in their wake including their small fort. The French built an earthen fort on a new site several miles away. However, this did not end the strife in Acadia. Charles de La Tour built FORT LA TOUR (also known by other names such as FORT MARTIGON and FORT ST. JEAN) at the site of present-day St. John, on the river of the same name. Port Royal and its fort changed hands several times during the period between 1632 and 1690.


French influence extended down the coast to Penobscot Bay in modern-day Maine, where the French claimed the land north of the Kennebec River. In 1635, they drove out merchants from the English Plymouth colony, which had operated a post there for several years. They then constructed a square fort of stone and earth with four corner bastions named FORT PENTAGOËT. Some of the stone used for the walls included slate from Brittany that was carried over as ship’s ballast. It is believed that the walls were 60 feet in length and 16 feet thick at the base, tapering off to 6 feet at the top. Archaeological evidence shows that the 1670 plan exaggerates the size by 40 percent. According to archaeologist Alaric Faulkner, this was a ruse practiced by some administrators to impress the king. One can only guess how many other plans of small forts had similar distortions. The fort included a stone barracks, a two-floor magazine, and a chapel placed over the entrance. The fort mounted twelve cannons, the largest of which were a pair of 8-pdrs. The fort changed hands several times until 1722, when the British leveled it.


In 1608, Champlain founded a post at the site of present-day QUEBEC, on a peninsula formed by the St. Charles River, and protected terrain by cliffs along the St. Lawrence River. During the seventeenth century, the defenses of Quebec remained unremarkable, despite the fact that the city served as the key to New France. Initially, in 1608, Champlain built another Habitation, more medieval in appearance than the one at Port Royal. Quebec, at this time, was a fortified trading post consisting of a series of buildings inside curtain walls that also formed the walls of the Habitation on the banks of the St. Lawrence. Its small size did not allow it to take advantage of the natural defensive features in the vicinity. The first Habitation on the site included three two-story buildings with walls made of a wooden palisade, the whole surrounded by a ditch. Outside the walls, Champlain added a “boulevard,” a low bastion-like position for artillery placed in front of the walls of a medieval castle in Europe. The first settlers did not arrive until 1617 and by the early 1620s, the population still numbered fewer than a hundred souls, almost half of whom resided in the Habitation. In 1620, Champlain began work on FORT ST. LOUIS on nearby cliffs overlooking the lower city and replaced the Habitation. In 1623, Governor Champlain created a second Habitation that included small towers. He also had to incorporate in the defenses of Quebec some of the permanent structures of the city, including churches, to serve as redoubts and places to protect artillery batteries.
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When an English fleet showed up in 1629, both Quebec’s fortifications and its garrison, consisting of fewer than two dozen men, were physically too weak to put up a defense. Champlain was compelled to surrender his starving garrison and was taken prisoner by the British. He returned to Quebec in 1633, after the city was returned to the French. He brought with him several hundred more colonists. During his absence, the English had improved Fort St. Louis, but the second Habitation had burned down. Charles Huault de Montmagny soon replaced Champlain as governor and turned Fort St. Louis into a stone structure with four towers in the 1640s. As the town grew along its peninsular position between the 1640s and 1665, the French governors of New France set up new defensive works to protect it.


After King William’s War ended in 1697 when Port Royal was returned to them, the French decided to build a new fort to defend the port. The fort would be instrumental in repelling English attacks on Port Royal once in 1704 and twice in 1707 during Queen Ann’s War. However, in 1710, a force of three thousand British colonials and over three thousand Redcoats finally succeeded in taking the fort and town, which had been isolated from outside support since 1707. The English renamed the fort of Port Royal as FORT ANN. In 1711, a French force returned to put the fort under siege, but when their cannons failed to arrive, they had to give up and retreat. The Treaty of Ütrecht of 1713 awarded Port Royal to the British and the region became known as Nova Scotia, in honor of the Scots who first attempted to settle there.



Fortifying Quebec and Access to the Mouth of the St. Lawrence


The fall of Port Royal during King William’s War had galvanized the governor of New France to fortify QUEBEC adequately in the 1690s. The upper city of Quebec, though less vulnerable to attacks from the sea than the lower city because of its location on an elevated plateau, remained exposed on its landward side. In 1690, Governor de Frontenac ordered the erection of an earth and timber fortification to seal off the peninsula, thus blocking the approach from the landward side. However, the 1690 works were only of a temporary nature. In 1693, before the conclusion of King William’s War, eleven redoubts linked by an earthwork enceinte that included revetted palisades spanned the peninsula and protected Quebec. Josué DuBois Berthelot de Beaucours, the engineer responsible for this work, was clearly influenced by Vauban’s First System, a rather simple but effective system of fortifications based on geometric design.


After the war, the engineer Levasseur de Néré was commissioned to create a second enceinte in 1700. By this time, some work had already been done on the defenses of the lower town, including the construction of the Royal Battery in 1691. To the west of Quebec, over ninety yards from the shore, stood Cape Diamond whose steep slope required only artillery batteries to control the river. Although the modernization and completion of the defenses was far from finished in the early 1720s, the French Navy minister, Jean-Fréderic Phélypeaux, Conte de Maurepas (1723 to 1749), concluded that the resources allotted to the defenses of New France should be diverted to the construction of a fortress at Louisbourg on Isle Royale (Cape Breton Island) and to the fortification of Montreal. Thus, the fortification of Quebec remained incomplete.
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Even though military engineer Gaspard-Joseph Chaussegros de Léry urged new construction projects for the fortifications of Quebec during the first half of the eighteenth century, his advice was disregarded. It was decided that Montreal, Louisbourg, and the forts on the Richelieu/Lake Champlain route should form the first and only line of defense of the capital and the heart of New France on the banks of the St. Lawrence. After doing some work at Quebec, de Léry moved to Montreal, called Ville Marie prior to 1700. In 1717, he began replacing the wooden palisade encircling the city with masonry walls.


When the French ceded Newfoundland to the British, access to the mouth of the St. Lawrence was left wide open and the French fishermen in the area lost the protection of a military base. As a result, the island of Isle Royale acquired new significance and French settlers were dispatched to Havre à L’Anglois (English Port), which was renamed Port Saint-Louis. The group included about 150 settlers and soldiers, including Major L’Hermitte, the engineer responsible for planning the fortifications of Port Saint-Louis (renamed Louisbourg in 1719) in 1713. St. Peter’s Island, now renamed Port Toulouse, and St. Anne’s, which became Port Dauphin, each received a fort.


In a book entitled Louisbourg, J. S. McLennan mentions that when Governor Vaudreuil arrived at Port Saint-Louis (Louisbourg) in 1714, he rejected L’Hermitte’s plans to create a series of forts. Instead, he wanted to fortify the entire position, turning Louisbourg into a fortress. However, this ambitious plan would be difficult to carry out since there was no lime for mortar or building stone available in the immediate vicinity and the governor brought no funds to launch the operation. Louisbourg was selected as the site for the new fortress because it was closer to the fishing grounds and offered ice-free anchorage. The drawback was that it was not the easiest position on the island to fortify.
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When pirates became a threat in the region in 1721, LOUISBOURG boasted a population of about a thousand souls, but it was still poorly fortified. Only about a dozen cannons protected the harbor. The garrison consisted of eight compagnies franches de la marine, but, unlike others formed in America as colonial units, most consisted of enlisted men who came from France and returned home when their six years of duty were up. Until the main fortifications were completed, the Batterie Royale—known as the Grand Battery by the English—was the main defensive position.


The fortifications for Louisbourg, planned since 1714, were finally completed in 1738. The landward or west side was protected by the Princess Demi-Bastion, which was connected by a curtain wall to the Queen’s Bastion, which, in turn, led to the King’s Bastion, which stood on a slight rise and was fully enclosed. This bastion was also known as the Citadel because it housed the governor’s palace (the largest building in Louisbourg) and had its own fortified entrance. From the King’s Bastion, the curtain wall descended to the Dauphin Bastion adjacent to the Dauphin Gate, the main entrance into Louisbourg. A moat and a counterscarp with a covered way and glacis completed these landward positions. Although it was declared complete by 1738, additional improvements were made on the fortress at a later date. Beyond the walls lay a bog or marsh punctuated by some low hillocks, which the engineers believed was too soggy to allow the enemy to move his artillery close enough to bombard the defenses. The walls continued around the city harbor and seaward sides. On the harbor side of the Dauphin Bastion, the curtain ran to a point northeast of the city on the opposite side of a pond that bordered the city. There, a battery position, Battery La Grave, was set up. From there, a bridge bisected the pond, crossing to the east side of the city where it met the Maurepas Bastion, which had a small pond in its center. This bastion was connected by a curtain to the Brouillan Bastion. Between these two bastions was the Maurepas Gate. All these features were fronted by a moat, counterscarp, and glacis since they faced a small peninsula with headlands and a beach where an enemy could land. From the Brouillan Bastion (named for the governor) the curtain led back to the Prince’s Bastion. The curtains surrounding the city were generally lower in height than those on the landward defenses. On the walls and bastions encircling the city there were firing positions for up to 148 cannons. The docks were located on the harbor side, along the curtain wall on the north side of the city, between the Dauphin Bastion and the large pond. A boom was stretched from the vicinity of the Dauphin Gate across the water to the area where the shoreline bulged out to the northeast of the docks. The entrance to the harbor area was a little less than a mile wide. It was defended by the Island Battery that stood on an island almost in the middle. Between this island and Louisbourg there were shoals. The deep channel for ships ran between them and the headland to the northeast called North Cape where a masonry lighthouse was built in 1734.
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The second largest structure in Louisbourg was the hospital, one of the grandest facilities of its kind in America. The fortified complex also included arsenals and barracks. However, duty in this isolated post was not rewarding because the climate was harsh and the only distraction available was liquor. With so much idle time on its hands, the garrison of Louisbourg soon acquired a reputation for drunkenness and mutinous behavior.


Until 1744, when a new war began with Great Britain, the fortress of Louisbourg not only served to protect the fishing grounds, Quebec, and French interests in the area, but also served as an outlet for trade with the British colonies despite the mercantile policy of France. When King George’s War was declared, the fortress had enough foodstuffs in its storerooms to last a mere three weeks. William Shirley, the governor of Massachusetts, prepared an expedition against Louisbourg in 1745. With William Pepperell at its head, the invasion force of over three thousand troops, mostly militia, sailed out in fifty transport ships and a few warships, including a 60-gun man of war. Meanwhile, Louis du Chambon, governor of Isle Royale, prepared the defenses of Louisbourg which consisted of eight companies of marines, about four hundred men. They were reinforced by a couple of companies of Swiss mercenaries and about fourteen hundred militia, bringing the total to about two thousand men.


Pepperell’s troops landed on the island’s rocky beaches of Gabarus Bay on April 25, 1745, despite icy conditions. The French abandoned the Batterie Royale, and within a few days the New Englanders were laying siege to Louisbourg. The French defenders, running low on ammunition, surrendered on June 17. The victors took over the fortress and began repairing the damaged fortifications, and, as can be expected, renamed the bastions. After taking control of the fortress of Louisbourg, the British naval commander hoisted the French flag at the entrance to the harbor to lure French merchant ships into a trap. In October 1748, the war ended with the Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle and Louisbourg and Cape Breton Island returned to the French in exchange for the lost British territory in India. The British, realizing they had given up a particularly important base in Nova Scotia, began the construction of their own fortress at Halifax. In 1749, a few months after the war, the British sent 2,500 settlers to populate the new stronghold that was to rival Louisbourg.


The fall of Fortress Louisbourg in 1745 left Quebec exposed and Governor Beauharnois took matters in his own hands, directing the construction of a masonry enceinte for the city. He took up de Léry’s old plans from 1716 and incorporated the older enceintes in the new work. The governor also ordered the new enceinte to be placed further to the west on the land front, allowing room for future expansion of the city. Some sections, including the covered way, were not completed, but when the final war broke out in the 1750s, the city had an adequate set of fortifications.



Forts of the Great Lakes Wilderness




Although the fortress of Louisbourg is the focus of much attention because it guarded the gateway into New France, a number of other forts also played a significant role in the defense of New France in the eighteenth century. In the west, the French began to gain control of the Great Lakes region. The jumping off point for the expansion westward was FORT FRONTENAC, built in 1673 on the northeastern end of Lake Ontario, on the site of an Indian village at modern-day Kingston. As Canadians and Jesuits moved westward and a new fur-trading region was opened, the fort overflowed with furs for export to Europe and supplies to support the western outposts. A 1685 map shows that the fort had three corner-bastions, the two largest of which were on the landward side. Apparently there was no curtain wall facing Lake Ontario. The fort sealed a small peninsula and it also had a large barracks. Fort Frontenac not only served as a gateway to the west, but also protected the approaches down the St. Lawrence toward Montreal.


The governor, Jacques-René de Brisa Denonville, thought to use Fort Frontenac to keep the Iroquois from crossing the St. Lawrence and raiding the lands of his Indian allies. However, the fort failed to block the Iroquois raids. Finally in 1687, the exasperated governor led a 3,000-man expedition against the Iroquois from the vicinity of Fort Frontenac. After a hard-won victory, Denonville withdrew. Undaunted, the Iroquois struck back, placing Fort Frontenac under siege throughout the winter. Disease took its toll on the defenders, wiping out most of the troops at Fort Frontenac and at the outpost Denonville had built on the Niagara after his campaign. After the siege, he evacuated both forts and returned to Montreal. In 1689, the Iroquois launched a major raid, massacring on their way the inhabitants of Lachine (La Chine), a settlement near Montreal. In 1693, Governor de Frontenac reoccupied the fort bearing his name and repaired it, contemplating a new offensive against the Iroquois. In 1696, he led an expeditionary force across the lake, into western New York to crush the Iroquois. At this time, Fort Frontenac was manned by a garrison of 110 men and was armed with as many as sixty cannons and sixteen mortars. It remained a key post throughout the French and Indian War.


One of the most important posts in the west was established at the portage between the Great Lakes of Erie and Ontario. This post later became FORT NIAGARA, near the famous Niagara Falls. La Salle, recognizing the importance of the place during the previous century, had set up the first stockade fort with a warehouse in that location. He called it Fort Condé. This original structure left much to be desired as a defensive position and was abandoned in 1679 and later burned by the Senecas. After his campaign against the Iroquois in the summer of 1687, Denonville moved to Niagara and built a stockade with four corner bastions, which he named FORT DENONVILLE. The garrison he left in the fort found itself isolated that winter and surrounded by hostile Iroquois. After the Senecas and disease struck, eighty men died. The following spring, the garrison pulled down the fort and departed.




[image: i_Image1]

Fort Niagara, New York. A view from the river of the French Castle or “House of Peace” from 1726. The Bake House is next to it. Photo courtesy of Don Stoetzel.







The French did not return to the area with intentions of establishing a base until 1701, when they built a new fort at the site of Detroit. In 1720, a French trader named Louis Joncaire was sent to negotiate with the Iroquois for permission to build a trading post at Niagara. The site selected was located below the escarpment. The trading post, given the lofty name of Magazin Royal, consisted of little more than a stockade and a cabin, but drew the displeasure of the British nonetheless.


In 1725, Joncaire reached an agreement with the Indians to build a more permanent structure, and in June 1726, Chaussegros de Léry arrived with French ships to build a new fort on the site of Denonville’s old one. In order not to alarm the Indians, de Léry had to make it appear not to be a fort. With this in mind, he built a large stone house surrounded by a stockade. It was not until about the nineteenth century that it was referred to as the FRENCH CASTLE, but for many years it was the only structure at FORT NIAGARA. It was called “the House of Peace” to mislead the Iroquois and was designed to look like a trading post. The construction of the fort lasted until the end of the year. The position consisted of three levels, the uppermost of which included casemate positions for artillery. Granite for the construction of the French Castle was brought from the vicinity of Fort Frontenac. To prevent damage from fire, de Léry did not use wooden partitions, using instead stone for the walls as well as the floors. The ground floor included a powder magazine, guardroom, store rooms and even a bakery. There was also a well inside the building. The second floor housed quarters for about thirty soldiers and a chapel. Machicolations, so typical of medieval castles, were built to reinforce the defenses. The back of the structure overlooked Lake Ontario. The cannons arrived by ship the next year and were moved into the building under the cloak of secrecy to keep the Indians from realizing that the upper floor was actually a series of casemated positions for weapons concealed by a wooden roof. (The term casemate is used very loosely here.) Additional work was done in 1727 and the fort was assigned a garrison of a hundred men. During King George’s War the garrison dwindled to as few as thirty men.


FORT ROUILLE, also known as FORT TORONTO, was built in 1750 to strengthen the link between Fort Frontenac and Fort Niagara. It was rather small and only had a garrison of about ten men since it was mainly a trading post. FORT LA GALETTE, built on the St. Lawrence about halfway between Montreal and Lake Ontario, strengthened the French line of 1749. It consisted of a masonry redoubt with five cannons and a palisade enclosure. After it was burned down in a Mohawk raid, it was rebuilt in 1750 as a square fort with four corner bastions and a moat.


Not to be outdone by the French, the British moved into the Lake Ontario area (in western New York) in 1727. They built FORT OSWEGO to challenge French control of the lake. During King George’s War in the 1740s, Iroquois neutrality protected FORT NIAGARA, but the French replaced the old stockade and added more buildings, thus ending the illusion that the position was only a trading post. In 1750, a small fort, consisting of little more than a stockade, was built less than two miles behind Niagara Falls and named FORT LITTLE NIAGARA. Meanwhile, as the next major war loomed like dark clouds on the horizon, Fort Niagara was falling into disrepair. In November 1755, Captain Francois Pouchot, an engineer, arrived with five companies in tow. Since France was again at war with Great Britain, Pouchot would spend the next four years improving and repairing the defenses of Fort Niagara. New oak palisades replaced the rotting ones and a moat was dug across the landward front. While the northern walls ran along Lake Ontario, the southern walls were near the banks of the Niagara River. Most of the cape or peninsula-like position at the mouth of the Niagara River was occupied by the fort when Pouchot finished. He added bastions and even placed a large earthen ravelin in front of the timber section of the curtain. Pouchot built a main entrance with a drawbridge, flanked by the Dauphin Battery and called it the Gateway of Five Nations, no doubt in honor of the Iroquois who were still neutral. Additional buildings of wood and stone were built inside the fort for stores, magazines, quarters, etc. At the beginning of the French and Indian War, Pouchot received additional cannons taken from General Braddocks’ column after its defeat at the hands of French forces.


Fort Niagara proved an excellent base for extending and securing the French hold on the Mississippi and Ohio valleys. French authority was administered through a series of mostly small forts, serving mainly as trading posts established on the rivers and lakes to control the lines of communications all the way to the French foothold on the Gulf Coast. Some of these forts had been established earlier in the eighteenth century and a number of them after King George’s War.


Beyond the Great Lakes, Pierre La Vérendrey established FORT ST. CHARLES on Magnussen Island on the Angle River by Lake of the Woods in 1732. A year earlier, FORT ST. PIERRE had been built on Rainy Lake to control access to Lake of the Woods and Fort St. Charles. Both forts served as a gateway into Manitoba from the waterways feeding into Lake Superior. Fort St. Charles was a rectangular shaped palisaded fort, only 100 feet long and 60 feet wide that blended into the heavily wooded region. Beyond Fort St. Charles, at the end of the Winnipeg River, stood FORT MAUREPAS (1734) which led to Lake Winnipeg and the Red River. FORT ROUGE (1735) was built near modern-day Winnepeg where the Assiniboine River meets the Red River. FORT BOURBON (1741) was located at the other end of Lake Winnipeg on the Saskatchewan River. Together with FORT DAUPHIN, these small, fortified trading outposts were linked by the same system of waterways encircling the Winnipeg lake region. Like other forts west of the Mississippi, a shortage of troops resulted in the abandonment of these posts during the French and Indian War in the 1750s.


The Jesuits, like the missionaries in New Spain, had also built their own fortified missions as they expanded French control through the Great Lakes region to the west in the seventeenth century. The Jesuit mission of STE. MARIE built in Huron territory in 1644 is representative of these religious outposts. It consisted of a rather large palisade with some stone bastions and a few blockhouse-like towers. It stood on the banks of the Wye River in Ontario until another Iroquois invasion forced the Jesuits to move to a new location and eventually evacuate Huron territory altogether. When they returned, the Jesuits established new missions in modern-day Michigan.


While La Salle journeyed south toward the Ohio River, Louis Jolliet, a French trader, had set off to explore more of the Great Lakes. The French military were close on their heels to protect them and other traders. A company of French troops built FORT DE BUADE, also known as the first FORT MICHILIMACKINAC, as an addition to the existing Jesuit mission of Marquette in the late 1670s. FORT ST. JOSEPH was built in 1686 by Daniel Duluth near modern-day Port Huron north of Detroit. This palisade fort was destroyed in 1688 and its fifty troops moved up to Fort de Buade. The area was abandoned in the late 1690s because the fur trade had created a glut on the market. Despite the demands of fashion fueled by the court of Louis XIV, the surplus was driving prices down. The French abandoned the area of Michilimackinac in the 1690s.


In 1701, after abandoning Fort de Buade, which he had commanded between 1694 and 1697, Antoine de la Mothe Cadillac established FORT PONTCHARTRAIN (later known as FORT DETROIT) at the site of modern-day Detroit, which he also commanded for several years. The location was ideal for controlling the route between Lake Erie and Lake Huron. In 1713, Cadillac, the founder of Detroit, left the area to become governor of Louisiana. In 1712, when the First Fox War erupted, the fort was besieged by the Fox and their allies and rescued by native American allies of the French: the Ottawa, the Huron and their associates. The Fox were driven into Wisconsin and sued for peace in 1716. At the time, Fort Pontchartrain was essentially a square palisade with sides about 200 feet long with four corner bastions. It was not expanded until the 1750s.
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Detroit and the other forts in the western Great Lakes area were established at the beginning of the eighteenth century and remained in service, although they were even more remote from Montreal than Fort Niagara. When the glut of furs dissipated in 1715, French traders and soldiers returned to the straits and built a new FORT MICHILIMACKINAC on the other side of the straits with palisades and four corner bastions, which were completed by 1720. This allowed the French to maintain control of the straits and the fur trade in the Upper Great Lakes. Because of its location, the fort was not heavily defended and held only six cannons. Most of the smaller forts had few if any cannons at all since they were generally intended for defense against Native Americans. Bruce Grant points out in American Forts that all the cannons were light because they had to be hauled to the forts by canoe. In addition, heavy cannons were unnecessary since the defenders did not have to face European armies or anticipate a typical Vauban-type siege.


Even though Fort Denonville on the Niagara was abandoned in the seventeenth century because of its isolated position, the French simply bypassed the area to reach Detroit. FORT ST. JOSEPH, established in 1697 near a Jesuit mission (the site of present-day Niles near Lake Michigan), controlled the portage between the St. Joseph and Kankakee Rivers. It began as a small stockade, but expanded during the next half century because of the heavy amount of trade with the locals and soon metamorphosed from an isolated post to an important economic center.


FORT LA BAYE (renamed by the British FORT EDWARD AUGUSTUS) was built at Green Bay, Wisconsin, in 1684 by Nicholas Perrot, who traded with the Sioux and developed the lead mines. It too was as a small fort and trading post that soon grew into a bustling center of commerce. The old wooden fort had deteriorated when the Fox declared war on the French. As a result, it had to be rebuilt in 1717 when it was renamed FORT ST. FRANCIS. The fort was destroyed during the Second Fox War, which began in 1728. The French returned to the area the next year and rebuilt the fort in 1733. The Winnebago, allies of the French, also built a fort on an island near Green Bay where they were besieged by the Fox until the French sent reinforcements.


The French also built several other forts in modern-day Wisconsin, Michigan, and Illinois. In addition to FORT ST. JOSEPH (1683) at the site of Chicago, they erected FORT CRÈVE-COEUR, near Peoria on the Illinois River. Founded by La Salle in 1680, this fort was destroyed when its garrison mutinied. A few other forts left by La Salle in Illinois and Indiana proved equally unsuccessful.


Further to the west, on the backwaters of the Mississippi in Minnesota, René Boucher established FORT BEAUCHARNOIS in 1727 to trade with the Sioux, a small, square, log palisade typical of most French forts in the Great Lakes and Upper Mississippi region. This first venture was not too successful since the Sioux drove the French out by the next year. However, the traders returned several years later and put up a new fort around 1750, but lack of manpower forced the French to again evacuate during the French and Indian War.



The Lower Mississippi and Gulf Coast Forts




On the Lower Mississippi and the Gulf Coast, the French began expanding their Louisiana colony northward, up the great river and along other rivers leading into modern-day Alabama. After La Salle’s exploration of the Lower Mississippi and his failure on the Texas coast, the French sent Pierre le Moyne d’Iberville to establish a series of forts along the Gulf Coast. At the time of d’Iberville’s expedition, dominated by French Canadians, France no longer presented a serious challenge to Spanish claims. The French strategy was to dominate the Ohio Valley, the Mississippi Basin, and the Gulf coast in order to keep the English Atlantic colonies in North America hemmed in.


D’Iberville led an expedition to the Bay of Biloxi in 1699 and established FORT MAUREPAS (also known as FORT BILOXI) on the east side of the bay. Like most French forts, it was made of timber and included four bastions complete with loopholes and a surrounding ditch. Two of the bastions were built of logs and included a platform for positions on the upper level. The logs were squared, thus providing a better fit and more solid construction, whereas in a typical palisade or stockade this procedure was not followed. Since these bastions were the strongest positions, they were placed at diagonally opposite corners. According to d’Iberville, the other two bastions were constructed like the stockades, with the heavy timbers placed vertically. Since it was a coastal fort, Fort Maurepas was armed with twelve pieces of artillery and was strong enough to resist standard European weapons. The curtain walls consisted of a double row of logs inserted vertically to add strength. Outworks included an additional timber stockade with redans around the fort. D’Iberville set out from the Gulf Coast in February 1700, sailing up the Mississippi to establish another fort. Meanwhile, his brother, Jean Baptiste Le Moyne de Bienville, took command of the eighty-man garrison when the commandant of Fort Maurepas died. He abandoned Fort Maurepas in December 1700 because the government considered the area too insalubrious for a colony to flourish. The garrison moved to the vicinity of modern-day Mobile, where it established a new fort and colony.
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At the end of 1720, the governor of Louisiana would send his chief engineer, Pierre le Blond de la Tour, to found a new fort at the Bay of Biloxi. Le Blond de la Tour prepared plans for an impressive, rectangular fort with four bastions, ravelins, counterscarps, and a covered way named FORT ST. LOUIS. Workers cleared a glacis, but in 1722, the French government decided to abandon the project.


When Bienville arrived at Mobile Bay from Fort Maurepas with his men, he established a new fort on Twenty-Seven Mile Bluff on the Mobile River. The fort, named FORT LOUIS in 1702, was built on a similar pattern as Fort Maurepas. Unfortunately, it and the settlement surrounding it suffered from flooding. Consequently, the colony was moved once again and a new fort was built in 1711. Several years later, the new fort had to be rebuilt and was renamed FORT CONDÉ in 1720. The construction of Fort Condé required a relatively large labor force, since masonry ramparts replaced the old wooden structure. The renovated fort included four bastions, a demi-lune, a moat, a counterscarp, a covered way, and a glacis built in true Vauban style. This brick fort, bristling with cannons, was the strongest French bastion in the Louisiana territory. Like the other French positions along the Gulf Coast, its mission was to control the mouth of the Mississippi.


Earlier, in February 1700, d’Iberville had founded FORT DE LA BOULAYE west of Fort Maurepas, about fifty miles from the mouth of the Mississippi. This fort, also known as FORT IBERVILLE and FORT LOUISIANA, was the first French fort in Louisiana. It stood on the east bank of the river and was little more than a large, square, two-level blockhouse of cypress logs, 28 feet by 28 feet in length. The position was enclosed by a 12-foot-wide moat. The battlements of its roof sported machicoulis. It mounted six cannons, two of which were 18-pdrs. The fort was not far from the site known as Bâton Rouge, named for the local boundary marker consisting of a blood-painted stick set up by two tribes. The French used this area as a portage for linking the Mississippi to the Gulf of Mexico by using rivers and lakes to access Lake Borgne and the Gulf. Traveling down the Mississippi, into its bird-foot mouth was considered impractical at the time, and the Lake Borgne link was preferred. D’Iberville went to France in 1703, leaving the fort garrisoned by only eighteen men who had to abandon it in 1707 or 1711 in the face of hostility on the part of local tribes.


After establishing Mobile, Bienville departed several years later at the head of another west-bound expedition. In 1718, he founded NEW ORLEANS, which replaced Mobile as the capital of the Louisiana territory. Pierre le Blond de la Tour proceeded to lay out the city in a manner typical of eighteenth-century Europe. However, the walls of the city, instead of being built as planned, consisted for many years only of partially completed wooden palisades that offered little protection. The planned moat was also unrealized, leaving the ‘crescent city’ to rely on the surrounding Lake Pontchartrain, Mississippi River, and bayous for its defenses. The city of New Orleans was also established to serve as the main port for cargo carried down the Mississippi and replaced Baton Rouge up river as the key portage to the Gulf of Mexico. Cargo traveled down the Mississippi to New Orleans and from there it was carried over Lake Pontchartrain to Lake Borgne resulting in a much shorter portage than the previous one at Baton Rouge. By 1722, New Orleans had become the governor’s capital. It was not until 1729 that the administration improved the position by creating a stronger palisade that included blockhouses. Although the planned moat was not completed,

the city was relatively secure.

To protect the frontier with New Spain, a site

was selected on the Red River at Natchitoches. In

1714, a French Canadian, Louis Antoine Juchereau

de St. Denis, on his way to New Spain from

Mobile, encountered an Indian village where he built two huts. He left behind supplies and troops to guard them with instructions to erect a fortified position. This outpost was reinforced in 1716 when a forty-man company of Franches de la Marine (French marine militia) was sent there as a check against Spanish expansion. The fort, named FORT ST. JEAN BAPTISTE DES NATCHITOCHES, mounted four small cannons. It soon became a trading center for the Spanish, French, and Indians. In 1719, its garrison was sent to eject the Spanish from their presidio at Los Adaes during a brief conflict with Spain. When St. Denis was appointed as its commander in 1722, the fort saw little action until the Natchez Indians rose up against the French and placed it under siege in 1729. In 1733, new plans were drawn up to improve the fort at Natchitoches. The renovations included a pine-log palisade of double the normal thickness and an inner set of stakes to seal gaps and reinforce the outer wall. Small corner bastions and a single entrance gate were also added. The buildings within the enclosure included a church, the commander’s house, a magazine, a warehouse, a large barracks, a guardhouse, and several other structures. The post was held and garrisoned until the French were defeated in the French and Indian War.
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The French Fort Condé in Mobile, Alabama. Built early in the 1700s, this brick  fort was considered the strongest French bastion in the Louisiana Territory.





While Fort Jean Baptiste des Natchitoches protected the Spanish frontier, FORT TOULOUSE was founded in 1714 or 1717 by Governor Bienville at the junction of the Coosa and Tallapoosa Rivers in Alabama to protect the Louisiana territory from British incursions toward Mobile from the colony of Georgia. Le Blond de la Tour supervised the construction of Fort Toulouse, which, when finished, consisted of log curtains and four corner bastions which mounted two cannons each. It soon became a trading outpost with the Creeks, who had invited the French into the area because of their hatred of the English. The first garrison totaled thirty men, but over the years the number varied from twenty to fifty French marines. The harsh, isolated conditions, which bred boredom among the soldiers, coupled with supply shortages, led to a mutiny in 1722. The commander, Captain Marchand, was killed and the mutineers plundered the fort’s remaining stores. The situation deteriorated to the point that the remaining French officers asked the local Indians to capture the deserters who were shipped back to Mobile where many were executed. It was not until 1740 that a few of the fort’s soldiers were allowed to bring their wives from Mobile. As the wood deteriorated in the warm, humid climate, the fort had to be rebuilt in 1750. At the end of the French and Indian War, Fort Toulouse passed into British hands, but the Native American tribes refused to allow the Redcoats to garrison it so that over the next decade the unattended fort simply rotted away.


In 1735, Governor Bienville ordered the construction of FORT TOMBÉCHÉE in Alabama, at the confluence of the Tombigbee and Black Warrior Rivers in the tribal lands of the Chickasaw and Choctaw, both enemies of the British. This fort was another timber palisade in a modified square shape with one bastion and two demi-bastions at the corners. Each of the demi-bastions rested on a river bank while the fourth corner needed no bastion since it was protected by a steep slope at the junction of the two rivers.


Further up the Mississippi, well beyond Baton Rouge, Governor Bienville ordered the construction of a fort and trading post on the bluffs on the eastern bank of the river in 1716 at a place that later became known as Natchez. The Natchez Indians even helped build the fort, which was named FORT ROSALIE. This palisaded fort, in the shape of an irregular pentagon was surrounded by a moat and included a bastion made from thick planks. In 1729, when the Natchez Indians joined by the Yazoos revolted against the French, the fort became the scene of a massacre. After 250 soldiers and civilians were killed, the alarm spread through many of the French communities along the Mississippi. The French took six months to put down the uprising. Fort Rosalie was rebuilt in 1730, but as the years passed it was not maintained and turned into ruins.


An expedition headed by Pierre, Duque de Broisbraint, and sent from New Orleans in search of minerals erected FORT DE CHARTRES in 1720 a few miles from Prairie de Rochefort (Illinois) on the Mississippi. The French found that from this site they could dominate the Fox Indians who had been raiding the area around Green Bay. The fort consisted of a palisade made of squared logs with two corner bastions diagonally opposite from each other. It was replaced in 1725 because it suffered heavily from flooding. The new timber fort had four corner bastions and was located further from the Mississippi. Early in 1740, Governor Vaudreuil reinforced the garrisons in the Illinois region and ordered the rebuilding of Fort de Chartres. The fort continued to decay until, in 1747, after years of indecision, the government decided to build a new stone fort near the old site. Francois Saucier, the engineer in charge, began the work in 1752 and did not complete it until 1760. When it was finished, the fort had stone walls 2 feet thick and 15 feet to 18 feet high. Two large bastions were placed on either side of the entrance gate house and the curtain walls included firing embrasures and loopholes. Several large stone buildings stood inside the fort. Its troop capacity, although never maintained, was for four hundred men. It was one of the largest and most impressive forts in the Mississippi Valley and served as an administrative center between 1720 and 1763.


In 1738, the French built FORT ST. FRANCIS, an advanced position on the Mississippi located near modern-day Helena, Arkansas, on the border between Chickasaw and Choctaw territory. From there, the French could campaign against the Chickasaw, allies of the British. Fort St. Francis was nearing completion in 1739 when the French engineers decided that another location further up the river, at the site of modern-day Memphis, on the Fourth Chickasaw Bluff, would be a better location.


This new fort, called FORT ASSUMPTION, was completed in a few months during the summer of 1739, and was cut right into the bluff, which was 56 feet high. According to John Harris, author of Old Mobile to Fort Assumption the French workers began at the base of the bluff, cutting a wide shelf about 140 feet long into the face of the bluff. From the back of the shelf, they cut an upward slope, and then excavated another shelf. They continued in this way until they completed seven shelves and seven slopes that ended at the top of the bluff. Harris estimates that each shelf was 8 feet high. The fort consisted of a wooden palisade, which was widest at the foot of the bluff where it included two half-bastions. At the top of the bluff, the fort extended eastward with a wall that included three bastions. The fort provided a convenient halfway point between Fort Chartres and the Gulf, but its main purpose was to wage war upon the Chickasaw. When the campaign ended in 1740, the French abandoned and destroyed both Fort Assumption and Fort St. Francis.


Further west of the Mississippi, the French expanded into the prairies where many of the tribes were more hostile and less interested in trade. They maintained FORT DE CAVAGINAL (1745) about a mile or so from modern-day Fort Leavenworth (Kansas) until their defeat in the French and Indian War. A few other posts in this region, such as FORT ORLÉANS (1723) near modern-day Jefferson City (Missouri) on the Missouri River, were built to check the expansion of New Spain. Fort Orléans was abandoned in 1729 because too many of its soldiers were lost in the volatile region.


Unlike the Spanish, the French did not create any defensive lines of forts along this frontier with the Plains Indians. In fact, the French favored positions placed in echelon along communication routes (mostly the rivers) over linear defenses because the rough, mostly mountainous or hilly terrain of New France was covered with heavy forests with few trails.



The Acadia and Lake Champlain/Richelieu River Corridor


As the French spread along the Mississippi and its tributaries and along the Gulf Coast to contain British colonial expansion, the core of New France had to improve its defenses for the next major conflict. The already exposed mouth of the St. Lawrence had to be defended more securely as this river represented the most vital artery for the survival of the colony. In addition, the approaches to Quebec from New England also had to be defended more efficiently. But priority in this area had to be given to the creation of strong defenses along the valley formed by Lake Champlain and the Richelieu River.


Louisbourg was still the main bastion protecting the mouth of the St. Lawrence at the time of the French and Indian War. The loss of Acadia forced the French to create a few additional defensive positions to protect the modern-day province of New Brunswick from British advances out of Maine and Nova Scotia. The mission fell to the forts of St. Jean and Gaspereau. FORT ST. JEAN, also known as FORT MARTIGNON, had been built in the late 1640s on the mouth of the St. John River and later served as the main administrative center for St. John. By 1672, the fort had deteriorated so badly that it had to be restored by Sieur de Martignon, the son-in-law of La Tour. By 1700, a new fort had to be built since the old one was beyond repair. This new fort lasted for a number of years, but had to be replaced in 1749 with the new fort of Menagouche. In 1755, FORT MENAGOUCHE was abandoned as the British advanced. A few years later, the British built their own fort on the site.


FORT GASPEREAU was built at the mouth of the Gaspereau River on the Bay Verte in 1751. Located only 68 feet from the river, it consisted of a square with 114-foot-long sides. A two-level pentagonal blockhouse made of vertical timbers stood on each of its corners. The upper level overhung the lower by two feet. Its overhang served as machicoulis to protect the base of the position. The upper level also had embrasures for cannons. The curtain walls of the fort consisted of a palisade made of two rows of stakes and included a firing step. The spoil from its seven-foot-deep moat was used at the base of the palisade. A glacis was cleared around the fort. At the time of the French and Indian War, Fort Gaspereau mounted about a dozen cannons. The garrison of Fort Gaspereau consisted of a captain and 150 marines. After a short two-week siege and the surrender of Fort Beauséjour in June 1755, the situation at Fort Gaspereau became untenable and it was abandoned.


In 1751, months before construction began on Fort Gaspereau, French troops under Lieutenant Joseph Gaspard de Léry, son of Gaspard de Léry, built FORT BEAUSÉJOUR on the other side of the Isthmus of Chignecto (the south side) about twentyfive miles away, near an outlet to the Bay of Fundy. This pentagonal fort consisted of a palisade of heavy logs about 18 feet high with five corner bastions. The barracks and the officers’s quarters were located behind two of the curtain walls. A storage building stood behind two of the other walls and the entrance was located in the remaining curtain wall. A well was located in one of the bastions and the powder magazine in another one. Each bastion had two gun platforms and embrasures for the cannons. A demi-lune lay in front of the entrance and a moat surrounded the entire fort. In 1752, the fort was strengthened with earth and timber placed behind the walls and a glacis was created outside the moat.


When the Missaquash River had become the unofficial boundary between French Acadia and British Nova Scotia, the British had built FORT LAWRENCE, across the river from Fort Beauséjour. Of the two forts, Fort Beauséjour was located at the best position, so when they took it, the British decided to keep it in service, renaming it FORT CUMBERLAND, and making some changes. A stone curtain wall replaced the palisade between two of the bastions and new barracks were built against two of the other curtain walls. A stone casement was erected against the curtain wall that had the old entrance used by the French.


The best and most direct overland route into the heart of New France was the lake route and the Richelieu River. There, the French had to extend a line of fortifications southward to prevent an invasion force out of New York from using this route. After the Regiment de Carignan-Saliäres arrived in 1665, its companies built five forts along the Richelieu in order to protect the French colonists in the area from raiding bands of Iroquois. Captain Jacques Chambly built FORT ST. LOUIS (later known as FORT CHAMBLY), which occupied a position below the falls of the Richelieu River and controlled the portages. The fort was a square wooden stockade 144 feet on each side with walls up to 20 feet high. The other four forts were FORT SAUREL near the St Lawrence River, FORT SAINTE-THERESE, FORT SAINT-JEAN, and FORT STE. ANNE up the Richelieu from Chambly’s fort. Captain Saurel built FORT SAUREL (Fort Sorel) on the site of the old Fort Richelieu, at the mouth of the Richelieu River. The governor launched a first expedition against the Iroquois from Fort Chambly in December and a second one from the small post of Fort Ste. Anne in October 1666. Unable to deal with the French regulars or their forts, the Iroquois finally cried peace in 1667. Fort Ste. Anne, only 144 feet by 96 feet in size and located on Ile La Motte, was used by both French and English forces even after it was abandoned by the French in 1670. It stood at the end of the chain of forts built along the Richelieu and gave the French a foothold on Lake Champlain because of its location on an island at the northern end of the lake.





What’s in a Fort’s Name


Forts were generally named after places (exact site or town, regions or countries), people (leaders, notable personalities, the person responsible for the fort, or even a group of people) or sometimes a characteristic of the area or the fort. For instance, Fort Carillon (sound of chimes) was named for the sound of the falling water of Lake George where it emptied into an inlet to Lake Champlain. A few names did not represent anything of significance. In colonial America it was quite common to find forts named after the king or a past king. The French named quite a number of forts St. Louis after Louis IX and others in honor of King Louis the XIV. They also gave forts the name of the saint on whose feast day the construction of the fort began or ended. Thus, the first fort at Chambly was called Fort St. Louis because it was dedicated on that saint’s day. Some forts received the names of the ministers of the navy and colonies. Thus, Fort Pontchartrain was named in honor of Louis de Pontchartrain and his son Jérôme Phélypeaux, Count of Pontchartrain, who served in that position in the last part of the seventeenth century. Fort Maurepas was named after the son of Jérôme de Pontchartrain, JeanFréderic Phélypeaux, Count of Maurepas, who replaced him in 1699. Fort Rosalie, on the other hand, was named for the wife of Maurepas.
 

Name changes usually occurred when another nation took over a fort, or when a fort was rebuilt after having deteriorated. Confusion often arises in historical sources when two or more forts bore the same name. Equally confusing is the fact that one and the same fort is referred to by different names in historical documents and references.







In 1690, FORT CHAMBLY was beyond repair and was replaced in February with a new wooden fort that lasted until 1702, when it accidentally burned down and was quickly rebuilt. This new fort no longer served as protection from the Iroquois, who had finally been forced to the peace table, but from British invaders from New York. While the fort was being rebuilt, Governor de Frontenac launched raids south into New York. However, after he withdrew, the English began their advance up the waterways, and in March they attacked Fort Chambly. After the English forces failed to take Montreal and Phips’s unsuccessful expedition against Quebec, the Richelieu valley enjoyed a period of relative calm in the shelter of its forts. The only dangers were the ever-present Iroquois bands.


During Queen Ann’s War, Governor Vaudreuil directed the construction of a stone fort at Chambly. The work on the new FORT CHAMBLY was accomplished between 1709 and 1711 under the supervision of the chief engineer of New France, Josué Dubois Berthelot de Beaucours. All the previous forts at Chambly had been built on the same site and were of similar size, except for the second, which was the smallest, and they all had four corner bastions. The stone fort was named FORT PONTCHARTAIN, but eventually reverted back to being called Fort Chambly. Its four corner bastions were tower-bastions since they were four-stories high and dominated the three-story high curtain walls. Each of the tower bastions included embrasures for cannons on three levels, loopholes for handguns, and a sentry box projecting from the outer corner. The curtain walls sported loopholes for handguns on two levels and the entrance was protected by a bretèche. This massive stone structure, because of its high foundation, looked more like a castle than an eighteenth-century fort. In 1720, Engineer de Léry surveyed the site and added a large platform for artillery on the north curtain wall facing the river. By 1735, as the French main defenses moved toward Lake Champlain, Fort Chambly lost its importance and was manned by a garrison of only thirty-five men.
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Walls of the stone Fort Chambly built between 1709 and 1711 to replace the old wooden fort along the Richelieu River. Photo courtesy of Don Stoetzel.





In the 1730s, the governor of New France pushed the colony’s defenses deeper into the Lake Champlain region. In 1731, Governor-General Marquis de Beaucharnois ordered the construction of a square fort at Crown Point. The small fort, with sides 100 feet long, accommodated a garrison of thirty men. In 1732, French troops rebuilt the small English wooden stockade fort at Chimney Island, across from Crown Point. In 1734, work began on a permanent fort at Crown Point. The design and execution of the masonry fort are attributed to de Léry. Construction was concluded in November 1737, when the fort was named for Frédéric de Maurepas. It was the most impressive French fortification on the main invasion route. FORT FRÉDÉRIC was in the shape of an irregular quadrangle that included a large four-story redoubt at one corner and had three large arrow-shaped corner bastions, each with a sentry box at the corner. In the corner where the redoubt or citadel was located were three smaller bastions linking the curtain walls. The citadel mounted twenty cannons on 12-foot-thick walls. The citadel’s entrance was accessed by a drawbridge spanning a small moat in front of the structure. Each of the four floors of the redoubt were partitioned into four rooms that housed the commander, a magazine, the troops, and a bakery.


Peter Kalam, a Swedish botanist who visited the fort during the eighteenth century, wrote one of the best contemporary descriptions of Fort Frédéric. He reported that the fort’s curtain walls, about 120 feet long and up to 18 feet tall, were built of black lime slate quarried about half a mile from the site. The total length of each side, including the large bastions, measured about 280 feet. The impressive gatehouse was located on the north side of the fort because the enemy was expected to come from the south. The gatehouse included a drawbridge over the small square dry moat, which led to an iron portcullis. Its lower floor included the guards’s quarters and its higher floor housed a hospital. The interior of the fort included wooden quarters and other buildings as well as a church. The fort’s garrison consisted of 120 men and its armament numbered about sixty cannons. A fortified stone windmill with stout thick walls that mounted a few small cannons on the upper floor and served as a defensive position was built to the south of the fort in 1740. In 1745, during King George’s War, the French used Fort Frédéric as a base for launching raids into New York. In 1746, several raids were launched against British Fort Number Four in New Hampshire from Fort Frédéric. Vaudreuil personally led an expedition into Massachusetts from there also. However, the British colonial forces made no serious attempt to take this fort that blocked the gateway into New France.
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Fortified Road to the Ohio Valley


As the French moved up the Ohio Valley from the Mississippi and from Lake Erie, they secured their claim to the region with forts. Conflict arose when some of these forts were located in territory also claimed by several of the British thirteen colonies. Thus, the British merchants established in the Ohio Valley at the fortified Miami village of PICKAWILLANY, about 150 miles south of Detroit on the Miami River, were taken prisoner and the fortified village was destroyed in June 1752.


In 1753, the newly arrived Governor Duquesne ordered the construction of a line of forts that went from Lake Erie to the confluence of the Allegheny and Monongahela Rivers, at the site of modern-day Pittsburgh. In February 1753, Lieutenant Charles Deschamps de Boishébert set out from Montreal with 250 men to begin work on the new forts. Because of the icy conditions, he traveled overland, taking the long route via Fort Frontenac, Fort Toronto, and Fort Niagara. He also had to bypass the British fort at Oswego on the eastern side of Lake Ontario. He then moved on to establish a foothold on the southern shore of Lake Erie.


In May 1753, Captain François Le Mercier arrived at the site picked by de Boishébert to direct the construction of FORT PRESQU’ISLE on Lake Erie. He placed the fort atop a cliff (at the site of present-day Erie) so it could control the portage into the Ohio country. Each side of the fort, including the four corner-bastions, was about 120 feet long. The courtain walls were built of squared logs laid horizontally and reached a height of about 12 to 15 feet. Since there was no wall-walk, the curtains were hardly more than an obstacle, as the defenders were only able to fight from the bastions, which mounted light cannons. The fort dominated the portage from this site to a tributary of the Allegheny River, where a second fort was built.


In June 1753, Le Mercier sent Pierre-Paul de la Malgue de Marin with a large group of marines and militia to begin work on FORT DE LA RIVIÄRE AU BOEUF or FORT LE BOEUF (located at present-day Waterford), at the southern end of the portage. Like Fort Presqu’Isle, it was laid out as a square-shaped bastioned fort. A plan drawn late in the French and Indian War by Lieutenant Thomas Hutchins shows that the walls of the fort were formed by the back walls of twostory barracks. Only the arrow-shaped bastions constituted the main defensive positions. As the portage road became the main supply road, the constant heavy traffic made it almost impassable. Almost 25 percent of the men (over five hundred) succumbed to disease and the harsh conditions in the swampy region where they worked on the forts and a wagon road linking the two forts.


Further south at the Indian town of Venango (modern-day Franklin) where the small tributary river from Le Boeuf met the Allegheny, a third fort, FORT MACHAULT, was built by Lieutenant Michel de la Chauvignerie in August 1753. According to Hutchins’s drawings, it was similar to Fort Le Boeuf, except for the fact that one of its sides and part of another appear to be formed by a stockade instead of barracks. However, this plan represented the fort that was rebuilt in 1757. Fort Machault was rectangular with a stockade rising to about 13 feet. Surrounding hills dominated the fort on both the east and west.


In mid-April 1754, a small force of Virginians under Lieutenant John Frazier had been fortifying the position at the point where the Monongahela and Allegheny Rivers merge into the Ohio, known as the Forks of the Ohio, when a large French contingent forced it to withdraw. François Le Mercier soon began construction of FORT DUQUESNE on the same site. The problem with this site was that it was subject to flooding, as became apparent in 1757 when an inundation inflicted major damage on the fort. Since time and resources were limited, Le Mercier built the walls, bastions, and parts of bastions that faced the rivers with simple stockades that included loopholes for small arms. How similar the layout of the fort was to the plan sent to Paris is still a matter of speculation. According to the plan, the fort was surrounded by a moat and had a counterscarp that included a covered way from which the soldiers could take up firing positions. The curtain walls were about 80 feet long. The total length of each side, including bastions, was about 155 feet. The fort’s landward walls and bastions were much sturdier than those facing the rivers because this was the most likely direction of attack. They consisted of two walls built of squared logs stacked horizontally, placed about 10 feet apart and linked by cross-timbers holding them in place. The area between the walls was filled with earth, which acted like a shock absorber against cannon balls striking the walls. This crib-type construction was used in both the Old and New World in important nonmasonry forts and dates back to ancient times. In the eighteenth century, it allowed fortifications to resist artillery. Atop these heavy walls were platforms and firing embrasures for cannons. The fort did not cover enough area to hold a large garrison and a stockaded camp was later built outside the fort to accommodate more troops.


The military value of a fort is based not only on its actual strength, but also on the enemy’s perception of its strength. Since most of the French forts, especially those in the region of the Great Lakes and Ohio River Valley, were located in the wilderness, British opinion of their strength was important in determining England’s strategy in the event of war. Of course, the French could not know how the British perceived their positions. There are documents, however, which give us an indication of what the British knew, or thought they knew, about the French defenses in October 1754. Much of their intelligence was based on an account given to Lord Halifax by John Deievre, who was captured by the French in 1749 and managed to escape. According to Deievre, the French forts in the Ohio region were rather weak and most had no artillery. British intelligence sources placed the total strength of the French in the Ohio region at 1,500 regulars supported by up to 600 Ottawa Indians. Essentially, British intelligence was as much in the dark about French positions as about the wilderness they sought to occupy.
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Reconstruction of the first English fort on the

American mainland. Fort Raleigh was an earthen

fort built on Roanoke Island, North Carolina (then

referred to as the Virginia Colony).































Chapter 2
THE BRITISH IN NORTH AMERICA


IN 1585, SIR WALTER RALEIGH ESTABLISHED the first English colony in what he called Virginia, on the north end of Roanoke Island. When the colony was set up in July 1585, Governor Ralph Lane built a small fort made of earthworks close to the coastline. The settlers built their homes near the fort. (This fort was similar to another one Ralph Lane had built before reaching Roanoke when the expedition had landed in Puerto Rico to resupply. The fort in Puerto Rico represents the first English fortification in America. Although it was destroyed on the expedition’s departure, a surviving drawing shows that it consisted of a simple square trace, one side of which rested against the beach. It had three bastions on the landward facing walls.)


Unfortunately, no drawings remain of FORT RALEIGH at Roanoke, but archaeological evidence indicates that it did not have a regular square trace. It was more or less star shaped with salients (sometimes incorrectly called redans) along the sides, which were about 50 feet in length. Apparently, one corner included a small bastion. The colony was short-lived because the colonists took to stealing food from the Indians, which soon resulted in open warfare. In June 1586, when Sir Francis Drake sailed in with a large raiding fleet, supplies had not arrived from England. Therefore, Sir Francis took the surviving colonists, barely over a hundred souls, back to England, leaving a party of fifteen men to hold the site. The supply ship arrived after they departed. In 1587, Raleigh sent a new group of a hundred and fifty colonists back to Roanoke with John White. The fifteen men left at the site of Fort Raleigh had gone by the time the new colonists arrived in July. In August, the colonists sent White back to England to get supplies. However, war with Spain broke out about that time and White was not able to return for three long years. When White finally returned in August 1590, he found all the houses had been pulled down. All that remained was a palisade, but there was no trace of the Lost Colony. The last news of the colonists came from the Spanish who had sailed from St. Augustine to reconnoiter the area and had determined that the colony and fort were so weak it was not worth their effort to remove them.
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The English made no further attempt to settle the region until the next century. By this time, the Netherlands and France were also staking their claims on the fringes of the Spanish empire, in what was considered the rump end of the Americas in the sixteenth century.


In 1606, the British crown patent authorized the creation of the London Company and the Plymouth Company, founded by two groups of English merchants, formed for settlement of the new lands. The London Company was the first to found a successful colony. In the spring of 1607, it dispatched three ships with settlers who established Jamestown by the month of June. At the same time, the Plymouth Company set up a colony in Maine on the Sagadahoc River. A fort, probably similar to the one at Jamestown, was built there as well. The settler’s buildings were enclosed within. However, by February 1608 that colony had failed, probably because their effort at colonization had coincided with one of the worst droughts the North American continent had witnessed in seven hundred years. It was not until November 1620 that the Plymouth Company managed to establish its first successful colony founded by the Pilgrims in Massachusetts.


While the two English companies were setting up their settlements far apart from each other, the Dutch entered the picture. The Dutch East Indies Company hired the Englishman Henry Hudson to search for a northwest passage to the Far East where a treasure in spices awaited. Hudson discovered what would be called the Hudson River and sailed as far as modern-day Albany, establishing a Dutch claim to the area in 1609. Next, the Dutchman Adrian Block landed in Manhattan in 1613 and founded FORT NASSAU, later renamed FORT ORANGE, well up the Hudson River near the future site of Albany. Thirteen merchants carried on trade from Fort Orange until the new Dutch West Indies Company entered the scene in 1621 and bought them out. In 1624, the company sent colonists to establish New Netherlands on the island of Manhattan. This move effectively separated the two English regions of Virginia and New England.



Early English Colonization: The Southern Colonies


Although there are some unresolved questions about the settlement of JAMESTOWN and its location in a swampy area up the James River, information about the problems faced by the early settlement and its fort is not lacking. In May 1607, three ships bearing a hundred and five settlers entered the Chesapeake Bay and turned up the James River where they selected a rather swampy site about sixty miles from the sea. This location offered concealment from the Spanish and other Europeans. However, by 1611 the Spanish had identified the location and even captured one of the colonists.


The local Algonquin tribes, who had formed the Powhatan Confederation killed some of the English colonists as soon as they entered the Chesapeake. This first encounter with the Powhatans, inspired the colonists to immediately build a fort. The construction took over a month. The result was FORT JAMES, a triangular stockade with three rounded bastions for the few available cannons. The main entrance was located in the center of the wall facing the river. Smaller entrances were also placed next to each bastion. A dry moat completely surrounded the fort. According to the archaeologists in charge of the reconstruction of the site today, the spoil was used to support the stockade and the area behind the wall was built up so the men could stand on an earthen platform and fire over the 15-foot-high walls. The village was set up inside the area enclosed by the fort. The side facing the river was 420 feet in length and the other sides were 300 feet each. Several hundred more settlers joined the founders of Jamestown. However, a fire destroyed the first fort and another had to be built.


Across from Fort James, on the south side of the river, on a marshy piece of land to the east of Jamestown, was a smaller work called the HOG ISLAND FORT, which served to protect the river approach against a possible Spanish raid and defend a hog farm as well.


In 1609, another fort was built on the south side of the James River about two miles up a creek near present-day Surry. This small position, named SMITH’S FORT after John Smith, served to protect the property of John Rolf, the man who turned tobacco into a commercial crop for the colony.


In the same year, Captain Smith sent Captain Francis West up the James River. West built FORT WEST on an island near the “Falls,” the site of present-day Richmond. However, the Native Americans in the area were hostile and soon forced the English to abandon the site until 1611. At that time, Sir Thomas Dale, also a professional soldier, sent several hundred men back up the James with the mission of establishing a new town, named Henrico, on the site of an Indian village ten miles from present-day Richmond. They quickly erected FORT CHARITY at this site and four other forts nearby. The objective was to abandon the dismal location of Jamestown and occupy the new site, but the Indian uprising of 1622 resulted in the complete destruction of Henrico.
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Right: Reconstructed stockade fort near the site of the

original Jamestown settlement of the early 1600s.





The English colonists, more so than the French and Spanish, had a flare for irritating the native populations. As a result of these strained relations, the local tribes rose against the English in 1622, almost destroying the Virginia colony, its settlements, and its small forts. After a year of hostilities, peace was arranged between the English colonists and the Indians. The arrival of new settlers swelled the population of the colony, and as the village expanded, the Jamestown fort fell into disuse and disappeared in time.


In 1633, the colonists attempted to seal the lower part of the Peninsula by extending a palisade across it. The wooden wall, which was to run from College Creek on the James River to Queen’s Creek on the York River. The wall was to be extended to swallow up additional Indian lands. Details of this fortification are not well known since the discovery and first excavations of the remains only began in the 1990s. The archaeological evidence shows that the position consisted of a ditch and an earthwork with a palisade that cut across the peninsula with complete disregard for the terrain, often failing to take best advantage of it. The trench was 3 to 4 feet wide and 1 to 1.5 feet deep. The palisade had to be replaced in 1644 because of deterioration and expansion of the settlements.


The Indian uprising of 1644 gave another serious jolt to the Virginia colonists, but the Lower Peninsula was rather well-defended by this time. After this incident, Governor Berkeley ordered the construction of more forts along several rivers. Soon more wood and earthen fortifications began to appear. A second FORT JAMES was built on the Chickahominy River near Lanexa. At the mouth of the Appomattox River near present-day Petersburg, Captain Abraham Wood built FORT HENRY, which held a garrison of only ten soldiers.


The Englishmen also returned up the James River, passing the ruins of Henrico and advancing to the vicinity of the former site of Fort West, where they built FORT CHARLES in 1645. At the same time, FORT ROYAL was built on the Mattaponi River near West Point. In 1657, about twenty miles up the Mattaponi River near Walkerton, future governor Edward Digges built FORT MATTAPONY, which was eventually leveled in 1677. Other forts of the same period fell into ruins on their own due to the high humidity of the region. FORT MANASKIN was built on the Pamunkey River in 1660 as a frontier position and may have even been garrisoned by friendly Indians. A third FORT JAMES was built in the 1660s at Tyndall’s Point across from Yorktown. The English hold on the Tidewater, the coastal plain of Virginia, was finally firmly established against the native population, but now had to be protected from incursions by pirates and other Europeans.


According to Richard Weinert and Colonel Robert Arthur, authors of Defenders of the Chesapeake, early in the colonization of Virginia, Captain John Smith, a professional soldier and erstwhile leader of the colony, decided that Point Comfort, at modern-day Hampton Roads, was an excellent site for a fort that would command the entrance to the James River. In the fall of 1609, Captain James Davis arrived from England at the head of a contingent of only sixteen men to act upon Smith’s advice. Davis’s force, augmented by about two dozen men from Jamestown, was placed under the command of Captain Ratecliffe. At Point Comfort, they built FORT ALGERNON, which began as an earthwork, and by 1611 consisted of a stockade with a magazine and barracks and mounted seven heavy cannons. A drawing at the Fort Monroe Casemate Museum in Fort Monroe, Virginia, shows that the fort was triangular and had an arrow-shaped bastion on the apex facing the sea. The Chesapeake lay on one side of the fort and Mill Creek on the other. A stockade with a continuous earthen platform ran along all the walls and accommodated six cannons.


Between 1611 and 1612, Thomas Gates built FORT CHARLES and FORT HENRY on the Hampton Creek, at the site of present-day Hampton. These two small stockades helped protect the position at Point Comfort from the hostile native population. When Ratecliffe was killed by the Indians, Davis took command of Fort Algernon as well as Fort Henry and Fort Charles. These two forts were garrisoned, abandoned, and then reoccupied by Davis who manned them with barely a dozen men. Davis had to rebuild Fort Algernon in May 1612 after it accidentally burned down earlier that year. During the next few years, all these forts deteriorated to the point of being ineffective. A new fort was completed at Point Comfort in 1632 and soon additional forts followed. The colonists levied a special tax by forcing all passing ships to stop and pay. This situation continued for a number of years as long as the fort needed repairs. The tax was not repealed until the fort lost its defensive value.


During the Second Anglo-Dutch War in the 1660s, there were virtually no significant fortifications in the Virginia colony. In 1667, the colonial government authorized work on several new forts including one at Point Comfort. Before construction began, however, the Dutch raided the area. As a result, Colonel Leonard Yeo was directed to set up a fortified artillery position of eight cannons at Point Comfort. Unfortunately, a major storm destroyed all the fortifications that had been completed and the point remained without effective fortifications for several more years. By the end of the century, most of Virginia’s forts were again in ruins.


More settlers had arrived in the 1640s and established themselves opposite Point Comfort, on the other side of the mouth of the James. As a result of the Anglo-Dutch Wars, they built a small fort in 1673, probably a stockade, at the site where the port and town of Norfolk were established in 1680.


The War of Spanish Succession brought a renewed interest in creating defenses for Virginia, especially around Hampton Roads. In 1711, the governor of Virginia mounted a number of cannons at Point Comfort, Yorktown, and Jamestown in timber and earth fortifications. The work on a masonry fort at Old Point Comfort (the “Old” part of the name was not added until the twentieth century) was completed in 1736. The fortification, named FORT GEORGE, consisted of a set of double brick walls, approximately 16 feet apart, in the typical criblike fashion. The space between the two walls was filled with sand. According to Colonel Arthur, the construction of the fort presented several weak points. These impressive looking brick walls were only 27 inches thick, which, even at that time, was considered too thin to prevent a major breach from just a few hits. In addition, most double walls were usually filled with dirt, gravel, and materials more coarse than sand in order to provide some adhesion and prevent the filling from spilling out in case of a breach in the outer wall. In 1749 a hurricane struck the Chesapeake, destroying the fort. Thus during the Seven Years War, Virginia was left with no significant fortifications to protect its coast. The situation did not change until the end of the American Revolution.




Inland, the colonists continued to drive the native population from their lands. In order to maintain their conquests they had constantly to maintain protection along their new frontiers. They built a number of stockades and blockhouses on the new plantations and farms, most of which were not very impressive for the seventeenth century. As the Virginia colony had expanded during the latter part of the century, other settlements had appeared to the north. George Calvert, Lord Baltimore, was awarded the right to establish a proprietary colony north of the Potomac River in what became Maryland. His son took control of the operation. The first two small ships with Catholic colonists landed in 1634. The new settlers purchased land from the Indians and founded a settlement called St. Mary’s on a peninsula formed by a tributary of the Potomac River. They also built FORT AT ST. MARY’S CITY on this easily defended peninsula. The fort, built in a month, consisted of a square palisade about 120 yards in length with four corner blockhouses. Built as a defense against the Indians, it had enough space to accommodate most of the colonists.
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Castillo San Marcos, St. Augustine
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Early in the 1630s on the Chesapeake, on lands granted to Calvert, Captain William Claiborne from Virginia established FORT KENT and a trading post known as FORT CRAYFORD on Kent Island, across from modern-day Annapolis. Lord Baltimore drove Claiborne from Kent Island after a skirmish in 1635. At the time of the English Civil War in 1644, Calvert’s Catholic colony became a target for Protestants and St. Mary’s was captured and sacked by Richard Ingle in what was called Ingle’s Rebellion. Claiborne, in the meantime, reestablished his claim over Kent Island. In 1646, the young Calvert managed to recapture his colony with the help of Governor William Berkeley of Virginia.


Down the coast from Virginia, the Albemarle colony was established by Virginians in the early 1650s in an effort to expand the colony’s southern frontier. This territory later became North Carolina. An adventurous group of New Englanders founded a colony at Cape Fear in the early 1660s, but the venture ended in failure. Port Royal Sound was established in South Carolina, but its citizens, fearing the Spanish to the south, withdrew to the north, establishing themselves at Charles Town. In 1671, the colonists were at war with the local Indians as they expanded inland. A group of Scots formed the Port Royal colony in the early 1680s. The city of Charleston was established in 1680. By the early 1700s, the colony began to expand up the Santee and Savannah Rivers. Along the entire coast of the area that was soon to become the colony of North Carolina, the settlers continued to move inland, causing a new war with the local Indians.


Little data is available on what type of fortifications the colonists built in the Carolinas in the latter part of the seventeenth century. According to one history of the region, there were no defensive positions in North Carolina before 1710. In the hot sweltering climate of these coastal regions, wood and even earthen fortifications did not have a long lifespan. But the swamps, waterways, and alligator-infested areas provided natural impassable defenses in some cases, while the abundant forests supplied the materials needed to construct fortifications.


The local tribes and the Tuscarora, relatives of the Iroquois, who had been mistreated and even enslaved by the colonists, launched a last desperate effort to retake the coastal areas of North Carolina. Thus, the Tuscarora War broke out in September 1711. Those colonists who did not flee entrenched themselves in New Berne and Bath (founded in 1703) where they began working on defensive positions. A number of other settlers clustered together on farms where they built their own fortified refuges. Thus early in 1712, FORT READING was built on the Pamlico River. Since Great Britain was already involved in the War of Spanish Succession, the colonists could not count on the crown to defend them.


The Tuscarora War soon turned into a war of position as the Tuscarora built their own forts of timber and earth probably similar to those of their other Iroquois relatives. Colonel John Barnwell, with his thirty or so militiamen and several hundred Indian allies struck against the Tuscarora at the defended village of NARHANTES. The Indians had erected nine small palisaded forts to protect the village. Barnwell attacked the strongest fort and overcame the defenders. This allowed him to destroy the other forts and several villages. He then proceeded to a place known as HANCOCK’S FORT (named for the Indian leader King Hancock), a larger, well-protected palisaded fort of the Tuscarora. He stopped to build FORT BARNWELL on the Neuse River to serve as his base of operations. But with victory in his grasp, he allowed the Tuscarora generous terms and restored the peace for a short time.


As more trouble flared up, the call for help went out once more. Early in 1713, Colonel James Moore responded with a new expedition of militia and Indians from South Carolina. He attacked the Tuscarora fort of NOHOROCA (NEOHEROKA), located about forty miles to the northwest of New Berne near Hancock’s Fort. This irregular shaped fort, probably the largest Tuscarora fort in Carolina, included blockhouses, a covered passageway that led to the Contentea Creek, and a number of homes within its walls. Moore laid down a formal siege, establishing battery positions and an approach trench. He built his own blockhouse of sufficient height so his men could dominate the interior of the Indian fort. In addition, he had a mine dug toward the walls, but launched the assault on March 20, before he could complete it. After three days, Moore’s men inflicted a major defeat on the Tuscarora. Soon after their surrender, the Tuscarora trekked north to join their brethren and become the sixth nation of the Iroquois Confederation.
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